SUPREME COURT  

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

------------------------------- 

Appellate Court No:  81937-2-I 

 COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF 

 WASHINGTON,   DIVISION ONE 

JINRU BIAN, a married man 

 Petitioner, 

v. 

OLGA SMIRNOVA, a married woman 

      Respondent. 

Appellant Bian PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Jinru Bian 

pro se Petitioner 

818 Hilliary Lane  

Aurora, OH 44202 

Phone: 360-318-4470 

Email: jbian98@gmail.com 

FILED 
Court of Appeals 

Division I 
State of Washington 
121912021 4:04 PM 

100468-1

mailto:jbian98@gmail.com


[- 1 -]

issues and in weighing and balancing evidence. 
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B. Whether Merger Doctrine Can Be Applied to Divest the 

Title Vested by Adverse Possession Is a First Impression 

in Washington and Should Be Determined by This Court. 

 

C. Whether Title Transfers Can Divest the Title Vested by 

Adverse Possession. 
 

D. Substantial Public Interests. 
 

Rules and Standard for Summary Judgment. 
 

Who bears the burden of proof for the factual issue 

of “existence-nonexistence” of physical objects in 

their backyard in a summary judgment and in a trial? 
 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

A. THE DEED CHAINS OF THE TWO PROPERTIES. 

              (From Bian’s Brief) 

 

 
 
 

B. SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURE FACTS 
[The definitions of Fences by the Court are used, with 

addition of Fence I=II (1992-2017)]  
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Jinru Bian bought the property at 906 38th St, Bellingham 

in 2012. In 2016, Bian trimmed a tree on Bian’s property (by the 

agreed boundary and a survey) to 3-feet [CP74], because the 

hedge was hazardous to driver’s backview [CP28]. Thereafter, 

Smirnova, Bian’s south neighbor, did the survey showing the 

agreed fence (Fence II) boundary was on south of survey line.  

Smirnova removed Fence II and built Fence III, north of Fence 

II, in 2017, extending Fence III into ramp way, limiting Bian 

using the ramp for which there is an easement.   

After Smirnova stopped discussing the fence issue, Bian 

wrote letters to Smirnova, but got no response. Bian filed 

complaint in 2018 claiming adverse possession of the strip on 

that his predecessor, Margaret Erhardt, had owned the property 

(1992-2007) and adversely possessed the strip. Because 2018-

case was closed unilaterally by Smirnova, Bian had to restart the 

case in 2020. Since there was no genuine issue of material fact 

known before 2020, including discovery in the 2018-case, Bian 

filed a motion for summary judgment in March 2020. In May 
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2020, Smirnova filed cross-motion for summary judgment and 

declared she demolished “Fence I” (Erhardt time) in 2007, built 

Fence II in 2009, and knew then Fence II was on south of Fence 

I. Although public record (zillow.com) shows the Bian property 

was listed for sale on 6/21/2009 and sold on 12/29/2011, no 

document shows Fence II was built in 2009 or in “wrong” 

position, including title-transfers and the discovery of the 2018-

case. 

Smirnova uses the “demolished-built” story to debate Bian’s 

adverse-possession claim. Bian’s declarations [CP27, 99, 151] 

and material evidences in the record show Fence II lasted from 

1992 (defined as Fence I=II). There is no material evidence 

supporting Fence I existed, except Smirnova’s declaration. 

Smirnova declared: 

“The contractor … could not install the New 

Fence (III) along the …line due to the robust 

concrete footings of the original posts (Fence 

I). …The contractor installed new posts … four 

(4) inches inside the Smirnova Property 

(…installed directly adjacent to the original 

posts).” (Add emphasis) [CP46] 
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There has been no dispute on the adverse possession Erhardt 

perfected in 2002 if Bian’s facts are true [CP40]. Issues are: 

whether the “concrete footings” exist (indicating whether Fence 

I existed), whether merger doctrine could be used to divest the 

title acquired by adverse possession, and whether title transfers 

divested the vested title. The trial court denied Bian’s summary 

judgment and granted Smirnova’s summary judgment in August, 

2020, without indicating ground(s), and denied Bian’s Motion 

for Reconsideration, thereafter.  

Bian appealed for the three issues as possible ground(s). The 

Court affirmed the granting of Smirnova’s summary judgment. 

Bian moved for Reconsideration. The motion was denied on 

November 10, 2021.  

Bian petitions this Court for review of the Opinion. 
 

V. REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW.  [RAP13.4(b)]. 
 

A. The Court Erred in Affirming the Summary Judgment 

because It Is in Conflict with the Opinions of the Supreme 

Court and Published Opinions of Court of Appeals.  

Prior opinions (Emphasis added): 
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Summary judgment is proper only if the 

moving party shows that there is “no 

genuine issue as to any material fact and 

that the moving party is entitled to a 

judgment as a matter of law.” CR 56(c). 

Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862, 

(2015). 

 

The court must review the facts in the light 

most favorable to the nonmoving party, and 

the motion should be granted only if, from 

all of the evidence, reasonable persons could 

reach but one conclusion. Sedwick v. Gwinn, 

73 Wn. App. 879, 885, 873 P.2d 258 (1994) 
 

We will not resolve factual issues, but 

rather must determine if a genuine issue as 

to any material fact exists.  Carlton v. Black 

(In re Estate of Black), 153 Wn.2d 152, 102 

P.3d 796, 2004  

 

1. The Court Erred affirming the Summary Judgment 

when there are multiple genuine issues of material 

fact, in conflict with CR56 and the prior opinions.  

 

The genuine issues of material fact are exampled: 

a)  Inherent genuine issue of material fact in Smirnova’s 

declaration 

 

Smirnova claimed “robust concrete footings” from Fence I 

exist. Whether they exist is the key in this case as whether Fence 

I existed. The Court inferenced the “existence”:  
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“[T]he existing (robust concrete) footings 

is the only explanation Smirnova gave as to 

why she erected Fence III four inches 

south of the property line.” (Add emphasis) 

(Opinion, p13) 

 

The Court favored Smirnova’s cause-effect logic. But, this 

cannot be true. The picture below illustrates 4x4 inches of 

posts with concrete layers. Fence III must have concrete  

          

Note: From the Motion for Reconsideration. (Snohomish County 

Code: min. 12 inches in diameter for footing, see Appendix D)  
 

footings to withstand strong wind. If the “concrete footings” 

exist, Fence III must be 10-12 inches south (see picture). Thus, 

“(4) inches inside” [CP46] precludes the existence of the 

“concrete footings” to which the new posts are “directly 

adjacent”.  The “(4)” (inches) is not 3, nor 5.  It is impossible to 

install 11 (lineup) posts contacting the “concrete footings” each 

with diameter of ~12 inches, but “four inches south”.  The 

4 " 

10 " 
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Court inferenced is in error. (A reasonable reality is footings of 

Fence II squeezing the new posts north close to the survey line 

where no concrete footings, but trees, see below). The 

contradicted facts in Smirnova’s declaration, an inherent 

genuine issue of material fact, forbids the summary judgment. 

Initially the burden is on the party moving 

for summary judgment to prove by 

uncontroverted facts that there is no 

genuine issue of material fact. If the moving 

party does not sustain that burden, summary 

judgment should not be entered, 

irrespective of whether the nonmoving 

party has submitted affidavits or other 

materials. (Emphasis added) Jacobsen v. 

State, 89 Wash. 2d 104, 569 P.2d 1152 

(1977);  Hope v. Larry's Mkts., 108 Wn. 

App. 185, 29 P.3d 1268, 2001.  

One who moves for summary judgment … 

must prove by uncontroverted facts that no 

genuine issue of material fact exists. This is 

true whether the opponent has the burden 

of proof on the issue at trial. (Emphasis 

added).  Duckworth v. Bonney Lake, 91 

Wn.2d 19, 586 P.2d 860, 1978  

The Court ignored the rules. 

b) Genuine issue of material fact by material evidence and 

Bian’s declaration on his experience. 

 

 Whether the “concrete footings” exist is a current fact. If  



- 9 - 
 Petition for Review  Jinru Bian 

they do exist, claim for adverse possession fails; if they do not, 

Fence II was Fence I=II.  Do they exist?  The record shows: 

Yes, by Smirnova declaration.  

 
No, by Bian declarations (see below)  

No, by Ex 1 from Smirnova. 

No, by Ex 2 from Bian. 

No, by the “(4) inches inside” from Smirnona 

No, when inferenced in favorable to the nonmoving 

party, required by the prior opinions. 

The facts of Ex 1, Ex2, “four (4) inches inside”, and Bian’s 

declarations are the proofs of nonexistence of the “concrete 

footings” (Fence I). The Court ignored the facts, but resolved 

the factual issue, in favor to the moving party, which is in 

conflict with Carlton and:  
 

It by no means authorizes trial on affidavits. 

Credibility determinations, the weighing of the 

evidence, and the drawing of legitimate 

inferences from the facts are jury functions, not 

those of a judge, whether he is ruling on a 

motion for summary judgment or for a directed 

verdict. The evidence of the non-movant is to 

be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to 

be drawn in his favor. Herron v. King Broad. 

Co., 112 Wn.2d 762, 776 P.2d 98, 1989.  
 

 

Smirnova declared: “I showed him the property line  



- 10 - 
 Petition for Review  Jinru Bian 

marker, … [t]his was in addition to showing him the remnants of 

the cement footings from the Original Fence (Fence I) in the 

backyard” [CP131], as “visual representation of the property line” 

[CP81], Bian declared: the “showing” him “never took place” 

and “have never seen any” of the footings [CP100], including 

gardening in his backyard for 4 years. Bian requested many times 

for material evidence showing the existence of the “cement 

footings”. But Smirnova never did in her following declarations. 

Taking photos needs minutes showing their existence, rather than 

declaring, briefing, inferencing by paper for years.  Since above 

material facts show there is no “concrete footing”, this genuine 

issue cannot be resolved only by declaring, briefing, and 

inferencing, unless Smirnova presents material evidence. [Even 

in trial, if (only if) material evidence of the “concrete footings” 

is shown, the issue is resolved and the case may be closed.]1 

_________________________________ 

1: To clarify this simple, checkable, true factual issue, Bian will 

give up his right to object if Smirnova provides material evidence 

(e.g., photos) now, showing the existence of the “cement footings” 

on the north of Fence III. Bian requests this Court authorize it. 



- 11 - 
 Petition for Review  Jinru Bian 

Bian requests this Court rule who has the (further) burden of 

proof to resolve the factual issue of the existence-nonexistence 

of the objects in the context of this case, beyond “never seen” 

and the photos. Is it constitutional to take Bian’s property only 

by declaring a story (against many material facts), without a 

single material support?  But in summary judgment: 

The moving party has the burden of proving 

there is no genuine issue of material fact and 

all inferences are construed in the light most 

favorable to the nonmoving party. Carlton. 
 

One cannot show there is no genuine factual 

issue without presenting the court with the 

facts surrounding the critical issues. Hash v. 

Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Medical Ctr., 

49 Wn. App. 130, 741 P.2d 584, 1987 

 

However, the Court ignored the requirement. 

c) Fence I=II was at the agreed boundary, evidenced by 

the uncleaned strip in Ex 3 (See below picture) and 

historic document [CP131].  

 The figure below shows that the (red) line linking the maple 

tree (4”MA) and the south edge of flowerbed was the boundary 

agreed (at the extension of Fence I=II, or II) before 2016, 

evidenced by the uncleaned strip (Ex 3) that Smirnova left for 
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Bian to clean and the wood paint color difference [CP28]. Fence 

I=II was on south of Fence III (pink). Thus, Ex 3 confirm that 

the only fence was Fence I=II, (no fence at the extension of 

pink line). (This was why Bian trimmed only one tree in front 

in 2016, since it is on north of the maple tree.) Ex3 refutes that 

“I showed him … remnants of the cement footings” “as visual 

representation” (at the extension of pink-line).  

 
Note:  Color lines and words were added to the northeastern 

corner of the Survey [CP 74] (from Motion for Reconsideration)
2
 

________________________ 

2: The Court commented: “addition of the fence in the ramp area 

does not shed any light on where Fence I was located”, because the 

Court assumed that Fence I existed (at the extension of pink line). 

55.48' 
-i> .. --•·:·:· •• ., •. ,. • .•. ._ .... : •. •• . ·-::· 

SfA,()(f() C0NC. Eco-a.ocx WALL 
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Further, what Smirnova declared is conflict with the text-chat in 

2017. In the chat, Bian wrote: “Since the fence (Fence II) was 

built not by you, how do you know they did not think it was on 

the line?” [CP131] During the chat, both honestly agreed that 

the fence (Fence II) was built by “they” who were before 

Erhardt. Sminorva did not deny “the fence was built not by [her]” 

then. This historic document from Smirnova directly contradicts 

her declaration that Fence II was built by her and “showed him” 

“cement footings”, the genuine issue of material fact that the 

Court ignored. 

 The Opinion (P.11) agrees: “According to the survey, the 

maple tree sits south of the property line on the Smirnova 

Property.” However, it continues “Smirnova’s statement to Bian 

(agreed boundary at the maple tree), does not establish that 

Fence I encroached onto the Smirnova Property.” Since the 

maple tree is at the (red) extension of Fence I=II (south of the 

survey line (pink)), the encroachment was established, but the 

Court erroneously assumed that Fence I existed which let the  
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Court make logical errors. 

d) Whether the boundary fence in the Erhardt’s photo 

(Ex 5) was the same boundary fence in Ex 7 is a 

genuine issue of material fact.  

 

Smirnova claimed the boundary fence in Ex5 was 

Fence I and that in Ex 7 was Fence II, while Bian showed that 

in Ex 5 and 7 were the same fence, Fence I=II. The Court 

weighed and inferenced: 

Smirnova  also submitted a photo provided 

by Erhardt that showed Fence I during the 

time Erhardt resided on the Bian Property. 

Smirnova established that because Fence II 

was not Fence I, Bian cannot prove Erhardt 

adversely possessed the strip of land based 

on the location of Fence II. (Opinion, p.8) 

 

The resovling factual issue has serious errors. The photo itself 

has no clue to identify the fence position, and cannot 

“estabish[ed]” the boundary fence in Ex5 as Fence I without 

additional support. The Court resolved the issue by that the 

colors in two photos are different. However, the colors of all 

three fences in Ex 5 are the same, so are that in Ex 7. Since 

Smirnova claimed only the boundary fence was replaced, the 
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color construing fails. Second, the Court inferenced: “two 

fences can share the same style and not be the same fence”, 

which does not exclude them from being the same. Neither can 

be precluded without additional materials. It is unclear how 

(logic) the Court established “Fence II was not Fence I”. The 

resolving factual issue (besides in favor to the moving party) 

is in conflict with Carlton, Herron and: 

[I]t is well established that the function of the 

trial court in ruling upon a motion for summary 

judgment is not to resolve the basic factual 

issues, … Rather, the trial court's function is to 

determine whether a genuine issue as to any 

material fact exists.  Mark v. Seattle Times, 96 

Wn. 2d 473, 474 (1981).  

 

The appellate court must reverse summary 

judgment if the evidence could lead reasonable 

persons to reach more than one conclusion. 

Soproni v. Polygon Apt. Partners, 137 Wn.2d 

319, 971 P.2d 500, (1999).   

 

The Court ignored the rules in these opinions, resolving the 

factual issue, without showing its logic. 

However, additional materials in the record support the 

two boundary fences are the same.  First, if Fence I existed,  
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there must be two posts (from Fence I and II) at the 3-way 

junction (Ex 4, illustrated by the cartoon below). The “story 

post” could not be removed, because the two west fences 

must be supported. The fact of one-post at the junction 

precludes the existence of Fence I. The Court could not (did not) 

explain why there is only one post. 

 
(From Bian’s Brief, P.15, where “Old Fence” is Fence II, “Story 

post” is from Fence I,   and  A:  Ex 4.) 

Second, the lengths of the north and south fence panels  

from the old (junction) post are the same (~ 6-feet) and same as 

other panels. (Ex 4 and 7). If Fence I existed, the lengths must 

be 5 and 7 feet for the south and north panels from the junction 

South 
F=en cerau 

South rail 
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post, respectively, since moving the post, one foot south, must 

lead to 2-feet difference. This was why Bian declared: 

It is the same type of fence on all three sides as 

well as the same in Olga Smirnova's back yard. 

It was the original fencing from when the 

properties were developed… exactly the same 

as the rest of the fencing. [CP158] 

 

Third, in Ex 4, the distance from the center of the baby 

trees/roots (big trees in Ex 5 were cut by Bian in 2013) to Fence 

II is ~ one-foot, using the picket (5.5”) width as in-photo ruler. 

(The arrows in Ex 4 are ~2 feet, 4x5.5”+spaces). This is why 

Bian declared [CP154] installing Fence III made it 

“necessary… to remove vegetation (baby trees) on Bian side”, 

because Bian knew the distance was ~ one-foot when he cut the 

two big trees along Fence II (hard to cut in the small space). The 

baby trees/roots, one-foot from Fence II, precludes Fence I at 

the same position of Erhardt’s trees (the trees may explain 

why “(4) inches south”). The Court weighed the distance 

between the tree/roots and Fence II (Opinion, P.11):  
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The photos do not establish that the 

vegetation, …, were the exact same width at 

the time the Erhardt photo was taken.  

One cannot exclude the fact of the one-foot distance cited above.  

At least, this is a genuine issue to resolve by trial. The Court 

failed to understand that Bian had experience with Fence II, the 

trees from Erhardt (Ex 5) and the distance cited, and further, 

Conflicting reasons or evidence rebutting 

their accuracy or believability are 

sufficient to create competing inferences. 

Such inconsistencies cannot be resolved at 

the summary judgment stage. (Emphasis 

added)  Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, 114 Wn. 

App. 611, 623 (2002)   

 

The Court ignored the rule in the opinion. 

     

e).  Section Summary:  

First, photos show no “concrete footing”, Bian “never 

seen” any, and Smirnova claimed “(4) inches inside”. All 

excludes the existence of the “concrete footings”. 

Second, uncleaned strip proves the boundary agreed at 

Fence II (or I=II), supported by the historic chat-document, why 
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Bian trimmed only one tree and Bian’s declaration. These 

disapproves the existence of Fence I and its “concrete footings”. 

Third, Fence II was the fence in Erhardt time, supported  

by the distance of ~one-foot from the fence to the tree/roots, 

impossibility of moving the junction post one-foot south, and 

the same lengths of the fence panels in Ex 4.   

All the three corroborate each other. The genuine issues 

showed are all based on material facts. But the Court believed 

a story claimed to be on “personal knowledge”; affirming the 

summary judgment is in conflict with prior opinions. 

 

2. The Court Erred in Construing Facts and Inferences 

in Favor of the Moving Party, in Conflict with Prior 

Opinions. 
 

 Prior opinions:  

When determining whether an issue of 

material fact exists, the court must construe 

all facts and inferences in favor of the 

nonmoving party. Strauss v. Premera 

BlueCross, 194 Wn.2d 296, 449 P.3d 640 

(2019) 
 

Any doubts as to the existence of a genuine 

issue of material fact is resolved against the 
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moving party. In addition, we consider all 

the facts submitted and the reasonable 

inferences therefrom in the light most 

favorable to the nonmoving party Atherton 

Condo Ass'n v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn. 2d 

506, 516 (1990) 

 

 The Court construed all facts and inferenced in favor of 

the moving party anywhere there were two possibilities, with 

obvious errors, conflicting with the opinions.   Examples: 

a)  In A.1.a), “[F]our inches south” precludes the 

existence of ~10” concrete footings. However, the Court used 

“[F]our inches south” to support the existence of the “concrete 

footings”, in favor of the moving party.  

b) There are no “concrete footings” in Ex 1 and 2. 

However, the Court construed it as being “covered by the ground” 

(Opinion, p.13), in favor of the moving party. If covered, how 

Smirnova “showed him” as “visual representation”?  

c) In A.1.d), the Court construed the two boundary 

fences in Ex 5 and 7 being different, erroneously by the color 

difference, and “two fences can share the same style and not be 
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the same fence” (just one of two possibilities) in favor of the 

moving party. 

3. The Court Erred to Resolve Factual Issues by 

Weighing and Balancing Evidence, Conflicting with 

Prior Opinions.

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