FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/31/2022 10:39 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100468-1

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JINUR BIAN, a married man,

Petitioner,

v.

OLGA SMIRNOVA, a married woman,

Respondent.

OLGA SMIRNOVA'S ANSWER TO JINRU BIAN'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Seth A. Woolson, WSBA No. 37973 T. Todd Egland, WSBA No. 48788 CHMELIK SITKIN & DAVIS P.S. 1500 Railroad Avenue Bellingham, Washington 98225 Telephone: (360) 671-1796 Facsimile: (360) 671-3781 Attorneys for Respondent Olga Smirnova

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Defendants' Petition must meet one of four requirements to obtain Supreme Court review of a decision terminating review. *See* RAP 13.4(b). The Petition fails to meet these criteria. These failures irreparably conflict with Defendants' obligations under both RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7) to (1) articulate the reasons for review; and (2) provide "[a] direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in [that section], with argument." *See* RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7).

The Opinion does not merit review by the Court for three reasons. First, the Petition fails to adequately discuss the relevant standards. Second, the Petition does not satisfy the relevant standards. Third, the Petition is, in part, based on alleged issues that were not addressed by the Court of Appeals. If, on the other hand, the Court grants the Petition, Smirnova requests that the Court review the Court of Appeals' reversal of the trial court's award of attorneys' fees and costs under RAP 13.4(b). A. This Court should not grant the Petition because Bian fails to satisfy any one of the four requirements for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Bian cannot satisfy any of the requirements set out by RAP 13.4(b)

in order to warrant review. This Court accepts petitions for review under

RAP 13.4(b) <u>only</u>:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or^{10}

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Put simply, petitioners like Bian here "must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this court or another Court of Appeals decision, or that [they are] raising a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest." *In re Matter of Dove*, 188 Wn. 2d 1008, 398 P.3d 1070 (2017). Smirnova addresses each of these criteria in turn.

1. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is in harmony with existing Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions.

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision by this Court or the appellate courts of this State, as the Court of Appeals properly applied the well-worn jurisprudence developed when

¹⁰ Bian does not appear to argue that a significant question of Constitutional law is at stake.

applying Civil Rule 56. In reviewing the Petition, Bian makes it clear that he does not find fault with the Court of Appeals' application of the substantive law applicable to adverse possession claims. Instead, Bian asserts that the Court of Appeals erred by not recognizing Bian's unsupported disputes of "fact" (which are simply allegations that Smirnova made up the existence of Fence II). But this is not the standard, as it does not reveal a conflict with applicable opinions, but rather a conflict between the decision reached by the Court of Appeals and the decision that Bian wanted. See In re Coats, 173 Wn. 2d 123, 132-33, 267 P.3d 324 (2011) (recognizing "petitioner must persuade us that either the decision below conflicts with a decision of this court or another division of the Court of Appeals; that it presents a significant question of constitutional interest; or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court.") (emphasis added); see also Matter of Dove, 188 Wn. 2d 1008, 398 1070 (2017) ("To obtain review in this court, Mr. Dove must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this court or another Court of Appeals decision, or that he is raising a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest.") (emphasis added).

More importantly, Bian completely ignores the Court of Appeals admonition that:

Summary judgment is subject to a burden shifting scheme. 'After the moving party submits adequate affidavits, the nonmoving party must set forth specific facts which sufficiently rebut the moving party's contentions and disclose the existence of a genuine issue as to a material fact.' " *Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy*, 165 Wn.2d 595, 601-02, 200 P.3d 695 (2009) (quoting *Meyer v. Univ. of Wash.*, 105 Wn.2d 847, 852, 719 P.2d 98 (1986)).

Although we review facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, "[o]nce there has been an initial showing of the absence of any genuine issue of material fact, the party opposing summary judgment must respond with more than conclusory allegations, speculative statements, or argumentative assertions of the existence of unresolved factual issues." *Boyd v. Sunflower Props., LLC*, 197 Wn. App. 137, 142-43, 389 P.3d 626 (2016).¹¹

Reviewing the record before the trial court *de novo*, the Court of Appeals concluded that "Smirnova established that because Fence II was not Fence I, Bian cannot prove Erhardt adversely possessed the strip of land based on the location of Fence II."¹² At that point, Bian "was required to respond with more than conclusory allegations and speculative statements that Smirnova's explanation about the fences was 'fabricated' and a 'fake' story."¹³ The Court of Appeals further explained that:

Bian fails to understand that Smirnova presents evidence based on personal knowledge because she lived on the Smirnova Property during the time in question. The evidence she presented in her declaration cannot be disregarded as simply conclusory statements because Bian chooses not to believe them. *Cf. Mithoug v. Apollo Radio of Spokane*, 128 Wn.2d 460, 463, 909 P.2d 291 (1996) (citing CR 56(e) and recognizing that trial courts should reject evidence when the court is presented with an affidavit not based on personal knowledge).

Answer to Petition for Review -10

C:\Users\Ktorres\Downloads\2022.01.31 MOTION_Answer Petition Review.docx

¹¹ Opinion at 6.

 $^{^{12}}$ *Id*. at 8.

¹³ *Id.* at 8-9.

When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of a pleading, but a response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If the adverse party does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against the adverse party.¹⁴

The Court of Appeals went on to explain in detail how Bian's arguments did not comply with the requirements of Rule 56(e), which mandate the presentation of specific facts creating a genuine issue of material fact.¹⁵

The Court concluded that "[a]lthough we review facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, Bian failed to produce specific facts to rebut Smirnova's evidence that the fence that encroached on Smirnova's property was erected in 2009 and removed in 2017."¹⁶ This is not a case of the Court of Appeals "weighing the evidence" and tipping the scales in Smirnova's favor, as suggested by Bian. There was no weighing to be made as Bian failed to provide any material evidence to counter Smirnova's evidence based on personal knowledge. As such, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Smirnova. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any opinion of this Court or the Court of Appeals and is in fact in harmony with those decisions. It is Bian's contentions that conflict with existing law in that he continues to refuse to recognize that the requirements of Rule 56(e) preclude the relief he seeks.

Answer to Petition for Review -11

C:\Users\Ktorres\Downloads\2022.01.31 MOTION_Answer Petition Review.docx

¹⁴ Opinion at 9.

¹⁵ *Id.* at 9-13.

¹⁶ *Id.* at 13.

An additional point bears mentioning is that Bian repeatedly asserts throughout his briefing both here and below that "genuine issues of fact" exist precluding summary judgment, that he was subjected to "trial by summary judgment," and that he is the victim of "judicial overreach."¹⁷ Apart from being hyperbolic, these assertions are astounding considering that it was Bian who initially moved for summary judgment in the first place. He argued in his motion that there were no genuine issues of fact and that he was entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. His motion was denied and Smirnova's was granted, so now he has dragged the parties through a years' long exercise resulting in tens of thousands of dollars in attorneys' fees based on his claim that Smirnova "faked" Fence II and that he has somehow been wronged. This turns the facts on their heads as it is Smirnova who has been forced to defend an action over four (4) inches of property and had her fees on appeal for doing so denied by the Court of Appeal.

2. This case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Finally, the lawsuit does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. *See, e.g., State v. Watson*, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (finding a decision concerning validity of a sentencing memorandum of substantial public interest when it had the immediate potential to affect all sentencing hearings in Pierce County); *see also In re Adoption of T.A.W.*, 184 Wn. 2d 1040, 387 P.3d 626 (2016) (finding an issue of substantial public importance in determining the scope of the ability to terminate parental rights pertaining to Native American tribes). This Court examined

¹⁷ Pet. at 27-28.

what does and does not qualitfy as a substantial public interest in *In re Flippo*. *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn. 2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016). There, the Court found that the validity of imposing legal financial obligations more than a year after judgments on personal restraint petitions were final was an issue of a substantial public interest because of its potential to broadly impact personal restraint petitions. *Id*. The Court recognized it was a commonly occurring issue and affected a number of existing proceedings in lower courts at the time. *Id*. Conversely, this Court found no substantial public interest in examining a claim of whether a party's guardian ad litem was able to adequately communicate during trial. *See In re Dependency of P.H.V.S.*, 184 Wn. 2d 1017, 389 P.3d 460 (2015).

Here, the Opinion applies Rule 56 in a straightforward manner to the narrow set of facts on the record. Bian's Petition focuses on how the Opinion will impact him (i.e., violate Due Process, etc.) but does not discuss a broader public interest. As such, the Opinion is relevant to the particular dispute between Bian and Smirnova, and not some greater substantial public interest.

The Court should deny the Petition because it does not meet RAP 13.4(b)'s requirements for review.

B. The issues presented by Bian with respect to the doctrine of merger of title and whether title transfers divest title obtained by adverse possession have no relevance to the Court of Appeals' Opinion, which did not rest its decision on either of those bases.

Defendants' Petition asks this Court to review as issues "Whether [the] Merger Doctrine Can Be Applied to Divest the Title Vested by Adverse Possession Is a First Impression in Washington and Should Be Determined by This Court" and "Whether Title Transfers Can Divest the Title Vested by Adverse Possession." Pet. at 2. But the Court of Appeals did not address either of these issues because it did not need to. "Because Bian cannot establish Erhardt adversely possessed the strip of land on Smirnova's property, we need not address Smirnova's argument that the doctrine of merger of title applied as an affirmative defense."¹⁸

The Court's holding—affirming the grant of summary judgment in light of Bian's argument—means that the issues raised are unavailing. This is not a new issue in this matter and this issue was briefed extensively in the lower courts. The only reason this issue was left undecided was because the Court of Appeals affirmed the grant of summary judgment on other grounds. Consequently, if the Court grants review it should be sure to reach all pertinent issues presented by both parties. Review is not warranted in the first place; but if the Court decides to grant review and take issue with the Opinion, it should also analyze the applicability of the doctrine of merger as an independent ground upon which to deny Bian's appeal.

C. If the Court grants the Petition, Smirnova requests that review be granted of the Court of Appeals reversal of the trial court's award of attorneys' fees and costs under RAP 13.4(b)

Initially, it is important to note that the Court of Appeals held that the trial court properly granted an award of attorneys' fees and cost under RCW 7.28.030(3).¹⁹ As such, it is undisputed that Smirnova, as the prevailing party, was entitled to an award of fees. The Court of Appeals

¹⁸ Opinion at 13, n. 6.

¹⁹ See Opinion at 16.

took issue with the amount of the fees awarded, citing the inadequacy of the record for it to determine whether the trial court determined that the amount of fees awarded was "equitable and just" under the applicable statute.

The Court of Appeals noted that:

trial courts must "independently decide" what constitutes reasonable attorney fees and not simply defer to the billing records of the prevailing party's attorney. *Mayer v. City of Seattle*, 102 Wn. App. 66, 79, 10 P.3d 408 (2000). "Trial courts must also create an adequate record for review of fee award decisions. Failure to create an adequate record will result in a remand of the award to the trial court to develop such a record." *Mayer*, 102 Wn. App. at 79 (internal citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals focused in on the language of the second sentence of RCW 7.28.030: "The court may award all or a portion of costs and reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party if, after considering all the facts, the court determines such an award is *equitable and just*."²⁰

The Court of Appeals cited the proper standard when reviewing an award of attorneys' fees and costs: " 'When attorney fees are authorized, we will uphold an attorney fee award unless we find the trial court manifestly abused its discretion.' *Workman v. Klinkenberg*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 291, 305, 430 P.3d 716 (2018). A trial court abuses its discretion where its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *Workman*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 305. Having cited the proper standard, the Court of Appeals then ignores it and creates its own.

²⁰ Opinion at 14 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals quotes at length the trial court's decision at the February 26, 2020, hearing on Smirnova's motion for fees.²¹ In that portion of the transcript cited, the trial court explicitly states that the request for attorneys' fees made by Smirnova's counsel was reasonable based on the facts presented to the trial court. The trial court referenced the declaration submitted by counsel wherein the efforts to reach an agreement on the amount of fees were extensive and the court also noted that the amount of fees were reasonable given the "course of the litigation."²² It is clear that the trial court "consider[ed] all the facts" in awarding Smirnova her attorneys' fees and costs and decided that awarding Smirnova her fees was reasonable under the circumstances.

The Court of Appeals ruled that this was not enough, but did not rule that the trial court was "manifestly unreasonable" in making the award or that the award was "based on untenable grounds," as required by applicable law. *Workman*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 305. Instead, the Court of Appeals ruled that the "record fails to establish that the trial court determined the award was equitable and just, as required by RCW 7.28.030(3)" This, however, is not required by the plain language of the statute. That the trial court made the award after "considering all the facts" presupposes that the trial court found it "equitable and just."

The failure of the Court of Appeals to specifically rule that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion conflicts with the established law of the Court and the Court of Appeals, and warrants review under RAP

²¹ Opinion at 14-15.

²² *Id.* at 15.

13.4(b). This error of the Court of Appeals was doubly detrimental to Smirnova, as the Court of Appeals determined that Bian was a partially prevailing party and denied Smirnova her attorneys' fees and costs on appeal—even though Smirnova was the prevailing party on the actual substantive adverse possession claim.

V. CONCLUSION

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